FILED 12-06-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

APPEAL NOS. 2021-AP-1350 & 1351

CITY OF WAUKESHA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

#### BRIAN JOHN ZIMMER,

Defendant-Respondent

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT CITY OF WAUKESHA

### APPEAL OF A GRANT OF DISMISSAL IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NOS. 2020-TR-7032 & 7035 JENNIFER R. DOROW CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Brian E. Running Wisconsin State Bar No. 1008960 City Attorney

Miles W.B. Eastman Wisconsin State Bar No. 1029669 Assistant City Attorney

201 Delafield Street Waukesha, WI 53188 Telephone: 262/524-3520 Fax: 262/650-2569

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) Did the arresting officer in this case possess sufficient probable cause to arrest the Defendant-Respondent before administering a Preliminary Breath Test, particularly since the trial court held the officer had more than enough probable cause for the arrest without it?

Trial court answer: No, the officer relied on the PBT result and therefore lacked sufficient probable cause to arrest without it.

(2) Did the arresting officer administer the PBT correctly when he said to Zimmer, "What I'm going to have you do is wrap your lips around this like a balloon and blow into it like a balloon. Ok?"

Trial court answer: No, the statute in question states the officer must "request" the PBT and in this circumstance 'request' is a 'magic word;' furthermore, the officer's statement was directory in nature and not a question giving an option to the subject.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Plaintiff-Appellant City of Waukesha respectfully submits that oral argument would not serve to further develop the arguments of the parties and is not merited in this case.

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 5 of 34

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

This matter is decided by one court of appeals judge pursuant to Wis. Stat. §752.31(2) (2019-20) and therefore under Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(b)4. (2019-20) should not be published. Additionally, the issue involves no more than the application of well-settled rules of law to a recurring fact situation.

#### INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the Waukesha County Circuit Court's decision to grant Defendant-Respondent Brian John Zimmer's motion to dismiss for lack of probable cause to arrest for Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of an Intoxicant and with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. The City respectfully submits that the Circuit Court applied an incorrect, subjective standard when determining whether probable cause to arrest was present. When the facts are reviewed *de novo*, independent of the Circuit Court's decision, the facts show sufficient evidence of probable cause to arrest without considering the Preliminary Breath Test administered by the arresting officer.

The City further contends that the Circuit Court applied an incorrect standard when it chose to disregard the Preliminary Breath Test administered by the officer. However, reaching this issue is unnecessary if this Court agrees with the City's first contention that the arresting officer possessed sufficient probable cause to arrest without the PBT result.

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 6 of 34

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence, the Court of Appeals must uphold the court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but review *de novo* whether those facts satisfy the probable cause standard. County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541, ¶48 (1999) (citing State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137-138, 456 N.W.2d 830, 833 (1990)); *see also* Wis. Stat. §805.17(2). The proper interpretation of a statute and whether the facts of a case satisfy constitutional requirements are questions of law that are reviewed *de novo*. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, ¶18; State v. Jackson, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 829, 434 N.W.2d 386, 388 (1989).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

On Friday, November 6, 2020 at approximately 9:28 p.m., City of Waukesha Police Officer Christopher Moss observed Defendant-Respondent Brian John Zimmer's vehicle drive through two red lights without stopping. (R.23 at 19:9-21:11.) At the first red light, Zimmer made a left turn as if the light were green, causing another vehicle that had the right of way to brake to avoid hitting Zimmer's vehicle. (R.23 at 20:4-9.) Zimmer then drove straight through a red stop light at the intersection of Madison Street and East St. Paul Avenue without slowing down. (R.23 at 19:19-21:11.) Officer Moss activated the red and blue lights on his squad to execute a traffic stop of the vehicle. (R.23 at 21:12-14.) Zimmer turned into a parking lot, missed the lot's entrance apron and jumped the curb before stopping. (R.23 at 22:4-8.) When Officer Moss stopped his squad car behind Zimmer's vehicle,

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 7 of 34

Zimmer exited his vehicle; when Officer Moss told him to get back in his vehicle, he appeared confused and the officer had to tell him to return to his vehicle multiple times. (R.23 at 22:21-25.) When the officer approached Zimmer's vehicle and asked him for identification, Zimmer had a difficult time manipulating his wallet and retrieving his license. (R.23 at 24:3-5.) The officer observed that Zimmer displayed slightly slurred speech and bloodshot and glassy eyes. (R.23 at 24:15-16.)

Having made these observations of Zimmer, Officer Moss instructed him to exit his vehicle so the officer could administer field sobriety exercises. Zimmer complied. (R.23 at 25:12-13.) Once Zimmer was out of his vehicle, Officer Moss started a pat-down search of Zimmer's person and his backup officer pointed out that Zimmer had defecated in his pants. (R.23 at 26:22-23.)

The officer, who had received specialized training in administering field sobriety exercises, (R.23 at 25:19-22), had Zimmer first perform the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus exercise. He first verified that Zimmer's pupils were the same size. Then, using a stimulus and moving it horizontally, he observed that Zimmer's right and left eyes did not follow the stimulus smoothly. He then checked for nystagmus ("bouncing") at maximum deviation in both eyes and found it present. Last, he checked for nystagmus prior to 45 degrees and observed the bouncing during that test in both eyes as well. (R.23 at 31:14-25.) The officer testified that this constituted 6 "clues" according to his training. He stated that during his training, when he had performed the HGN exercise on persons dosed with alcohol to a point where their blood alcohol concentration was greater than 0.08 g/100ml, he had observed those 6 clues, and when he performed them on someone dosed to a lower alcohol level, he had not observed all 6 clues. (R.23 at 29:3-16.)

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 8 of 34

The officer then had Zimmer perform the walk-and-turn exercise. Officer Moss first instructed Zimmer to stand in the "starting position," which involves standing with one's right foot directly in front of the left foot, heel touching toe, with arms at the sides, while listening to the officer's instructions. (R.23 at 34:2-15.) While the officer gave instructions, Mr. Zimmer was unable to remain in this "starting position" because he could not keep his balance. (R.23 at 35:11-18.)

Officer Moss instructed Zimmer to take nine heel-to-toe steps on an imaginary line, then turn around by keeping one foot on the line and making a series of small steps with the other foot, and then take nine heel-to-toe steps back. The officer instructed Zimmer to also keep his arms down at his side and to focus on his feet. (R.23 at 34:24-35:10.) The officer asked Zimmer if he had any questions and he responded that he did not. (R.23 at 35:23-36:1.) As Mr. Zimmer walked the first nine steps, he stepped off the line and missed heel-to-toe on multiple steps, beginning at the second step. Upon reaching the ninth step, he appeared confused as to what to do next; he then turned himself around without taking small steps as instructed. On his second set of nine steps, he again stepped off the line and missed stepping heel-to-toe. He also used his arms for balance. The officer testified he observed 5 out of a possible 8 clues he had been trained to look for during the exercise. (R.23 at 36:4-17.)

Officer Moss then asked Mr. Zimmer to perform the one-leg stand exercise. He instructed Mr. Zimmer to choose either foot and raise that foot approximately six inches off the ground with the toe pointed forward, keep the standing leg straight, with arms at the sides, focus on the raised foot and count 1000-1, 1000-2, etc. until told to stop. The officer told him this would be a timed 30-second exercise. (R.23 at 37:9-19.) Zimmer appeared to

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 9 of 34

understand the officer's instructions and said he had no questions. (R.23 at 37:20-24.) Zimmer raised his left leg and upon reaching 1000-4, he placed his left foot on the ground to maintain balance. He then brought the leg back up; Officer Moss then observed that he started to fall towards his right, causing him to put his foot down again. The officer terminated the exercise in the interest of safety because Zimmer appeared unable to maintain his balance; the officer did not want Zimmer to fall and harm himself. (R.23 at 38:5-15.) The officer also noted that Zimmer raised his arms during the exercise to assist with balance, contrary to his instructions. (R.23 at 38:18.)

The officer asked Zimmer if he understood the English alphabet and Zimmer said he did. Officer Moss asked him to recite the alphabet in order without rhyming or singing, beginning at the letter D and ending at the letter V. Mr. Zimmer successfully performed the test. (R.23 at 39:1-8.)

Officer Moss asked Zimmer if he understood the numbers 1 to 100 and counting backwards, and Zimmer said that he did. The officer asked him to count backwards from the number 82 to 68. Zimmer then counted from 82 down to 61, contrary to the officer's instructions, and stopped. (R.23 at 39:11-17.)

The last verbal exercise Officer Moss asked Zimmer to perform was to recite the calendar months in order from March to October. Zimmer performed the test correctly. (R.23 at 40:1-7.)

Officer Moss next obtained a Preliminary Breath Test unit from his squad. The officer showed it to Zimmer and said, "What I'm going to have you do is wrap your lips around this like a balloon and blow into it like a balloon. Okay?" (R.23 at 3:13-15; Pet'r's App. 1.) After the PBT was completed, the officer placed Zimmer under arrest for Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of an Intoxicant. (R.23 at 41:7-8.) The officer

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 10 of 34

issued a citation for Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of an Intoxicant to Zimmer that same day, November 6, 2020 (R.1 at 1, 2021-AP-001530). On December 1, 2020, Officer Moss issued an additional citation to Zimmer via U.S. Postal Mail for Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. (R.1 at 1, appeal number 2021-AP-001531.)

Zimmer made a timely request for a jury trial, and consequently the matter was heard in Waukesha County Circuit Court instead of the City of Waukesha Municipal Court. (R.3 at 1; R.4 at 1.) After the Municipal Court transferred the case to Circuit Court, Zimmer filed a motion to exclude evidence of the PBT result and to dismiss for lack of probable cause to arrest. (R.17 at 1-11.) On August 13, 2021, a hearing was held before the Honorable Dennis Maroney, Reserve Judge for Waukesha County Circuit Court, Branch 2. At the hearing, the court first dealt with the motion to exclude the PBT. The parties stipulated as to the manner in which the officer had asked Zimmer to perform the PBT on the night of the arrest. (R.23 at 5:4-17; App. 1.) Zimmer argued that the statute permitting a PBT prior to arrest for OWI requires the officer "request" the person to provide a sample of his or her breath, and Officer Moss's statements to Zimmer prior to administering the test—"What I'm going to have you do is wrap your lips around this like a balloon and blow into it like a balloon. Okay?"—could not be considered a "request." (R.23 at 5:18-22, 7:18-9:10.)

The Circuit Court stated the issue was whether or not the term "request" was a "dramaturgic word," and "[d]ramaturgic words are words of art in the legal parlance." (R.23 at 14:6-9; App. 2.) The court went on to state that "it is important that under PBT usage... the option aspect of the PBT is such that, you know, it is a magic word which because of the nature of the beast should be used." (R.23 at 15:8-12; App. 3.) The court also

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 11 of 34

stated, "I think the word request should be part of the parlance that is used in this situation." (R.23 at 16:1-3; App. 4.) When the court referenced its finding later in the decision, it stated, "I have already ruled that [the PBT] was performed impermissibly because he didn't use the magic request form, request word." (R.23 at 67:23-25; App. 11.)

The court further noted that the manner in which the officer described the PBT to Zimmer was directory, noting, "[T]his man was directed. It was, okay was a reaffirmation, if you will, of the fact that you are going to give a PBT and here is what you gotta do. Okay? In other words, you know, what option did he have?" (R.23 at 15:3-6; App. 3.) It also stated, "Request is basically an allowance for an option. There were no options given to you in this case." (R.23 at 15:7-8; App. 3.) The court decided to exclude the PBT from consideration. (R.23 at 16:12-14; App. 4.) The court also mentioned there were "constitutional infirmities" in the manner in which the officer requested the PBT but did not specify what they were. (R.23 at 15:13-14; App. 3.)

The court then took up the question whether probable cause to arrest existed without the PBT test. It began by noting the legal standard: "what a reasonable officer would come to under all the circumstances and all the evidential factors he had a right to consider under the circumstances." (R.23 at 16:20-22; App. 4.)

When Officer Moss was on the witness stand, the court asked whether he thought he had probable cause to arrest without the PBT result. (R.23 at 50:24-25; App. 7.) The officer responded, "Yes, your Honor; I did." (R.23 at 51:1; App. 8.) The court asked the officer why he did not arrest Mr. Zimmer before administering the PBT if he already believed he had probable cause to arrest. (R.23 at 51:2-10; App. 8.) Officer Moss explained that he

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 12 of 34

requested the PBT to obtain further evidence of intoxication prior to arrest. The officer further explained that it would assist in determining whether, if the result indicated no alcohol was present, a Drug Recognition Evaluator should be called to investigate whether the impairment was caused by some other form of drug. (R.23 at 51:11-14; App. 8.)

When the court evaluated this testimony, it said, "I wanted to find out whether or not he had probable cause before the PBT was rendered in any fashion.... And he said, yes. I said why didn't you arrest him then? He couldn't answer that question truthfully.... It is because he didn't rely on that, or didn't rely enough on that. He relied on the PBT result." (R.23 at 71:13-20; App. 15.)

Notwithstanding the officer's uncontroverted testimony that he thought he had probable cause to arrest before administering the PBT, the court reasoned that because Officer Moss administered a PBT, he must have thought he needed the PBT result to establish probable cause to arrest. The court stated, "[I]t was after the PBT test that he made his decision that, yes, there was probable cause to believe that this guy was operating in an impaired fashion." (R.23 at 68:2-4; App. 12.) It also stated, "If he would have had probable cause before, he should have arrested him...." (R.23 at 68:13-15; App. 12.) The court explained its decision by stating, "And as far as probable cause, he never got to a point of probable cause on his own. He was still at reasonable suspicion, as far as I was concerned, because he relied on the PBT to reach the probable cause finding." (R.23 at 72:14-17; App. 16.)

The court also stated, "I personally think he had more than enough probable cause to arrest without the PBT; but he didn't. And he is the guy who was the determining factor on the street...." (R.23 at 72:2-5; App. 16.)

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 13 of 34

The court granted Zimmer's motion to dismiss the case for lack of probable cause to arrest. (R23 at 72:20; App. 16.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

The City contends the arresting officer in this case, Officer Christopher Moss, possessed sufficient probable cause to arrest Zimmer for Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of an Intoxicant without taking the Preliminary Breath Test the officer administered into consideration. If this Court agrees, there will be no need to address whether Officer Moss administered the PBT correctly because the result is not admissible at trial. Wis. Stat. §343.303 (2019-20) ("The result of a preliminary breath screening test shall not be admissible in any action or proceeding except to show probable cause for an arrest....") Therefore, the City addresses the probable cause issue first.

I. Officer Moss Possessed More than Enough Probable Cause to Arrest Mr. Zimmer for Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of an Intoxicant Prior to Administering the Preliminary Breath Test.

This Court must reverse the Circuit Court's finding that the officer lacked sufficient probable cause to arrest for two reasons. First, the Circuit Court made an error of law when it held the officer possessed "more than enough" probable cause to arrest Zimmer absent the PBT yet dismissed the case for lack of probable cause to arrest. Second, the Circuit Court's view of the evidence notwithstanding, the evidence introduced at the hearing was sufficient under the proper objective standard for determining probable cause to arrest for OWI even if the PBT result is not considered.

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 14 of 34

A. The Circuit Court Applied an Incorrect Standard of Law when It Stated It Thought the Officer Possessed "More than Enough" Probable Cause to Arrest and Yet Still Proceeded to Dismiss the Case for Lack of Probable Cause to Arrest.

When determining whether probable cause exists, this Court looks to "the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant." State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 356, 525 N.W.2d 102 (Ct. App. 1994). Whether sufficient probable cause to arrest exists is an objective standard. "The officer's subjective intent does not alone render a search or seizure of an automobile or its occupants illegal, as long as there were objective facts that would have supported a correct legal theory to be applied and as long as there existed articulable facts fitting the traffic law violation." State v. Baudhuin, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 651, 416 N.W.2d 60, 63 (1987).

In this case, before Officer Moss administered the PBT to Zimmer, he observed Zimmer drive through two stop lights without stopping and at the second light, did not even slow down. (R.23 at 20:4-11.) He observed Zimmer jump the curb attempting to pull over. (R.23 at 22:4-8.) He observed slightly slurred speech and bloodshot, glassy eyes and slightly slurred speech. (R.23 at 24:15-16.) He discovered that Zimmer had defecated in his pants. (R.23 at 26:22-23.) He observed Zimmer present all 6 clues on the HGN test. (R.23 at 31:10-32:1.) He saw Zimmer unable to keep his balance in the starting position for the walk-and-turn test. (R.23 at 35:11-18.) He observed Zimmer attempt the test and step off the line and miss stepping

Case 2021AP001530 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-06-2021 Page 15 of 34

heel-to-toe multiple times, appear confused, fail to execute the turn correctly to complete the final nine steps, raise his arms for balance contrary to the officer's instructions, and step off the line and miss heel-to-toe on the final nine steps as well (R.23 at 36:4-17); all of which suggested that Zimmer may be impaired by intoxicants to the point where his balance was sharply affected. The officer observed Zimmer attempt to perform the one-leg stand test and nearly fall over, causing the officer to end the test early out of concern that Mr. Zimmer would hurt himself. (R.23 at 38:5-18.) Officer Moss also observed that Mr. Zimmer could not concentrate on counting backwards while remembering which number he was supposed to end on, as he counted back from 86 to 61 instead of stopping at 68. (R.23 at 39:11-17.) The officer observed all of the above before he administered the PBT.

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