FILED 01-13-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case Nos. 2021AP1350 & 2021AP1351

CITY OF WAUKESHA,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-VS-

BRIAN J. ZIMMER,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING DISMISSAL ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE DENNIS P. MORONEY, RESERVE JUDGE, PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NOS. 20-TR-7032 & 20-TR-7035

## BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

#### MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 dennis@melowskilaw.com

#

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE CITY'S CHARACTERIZATION OF THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW IN THE INSTANT MATTER IS MISLEADING.
  - Framing the Issue: The Relevant Inquiry. A.

The City begins its brief by asserting that "[w]hen the facts are reviewed de novo, independent of the Circuit Court's decision, the facts show sufficient evidence of probable cause to arrest without considering the Preliminary Breath Test administered by the arresting officer." Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant, at p.4 (emphasis added). The City's characterization of the appropriate standard to be applied by this Court is short of an accurate mark.

Regrettably for the City, any review of the lower court's decision cannot be made "independently" of the circuit court's assessment of Officer Moss' credibility. As the courts in Gehr and Posnansky correctly observed, it is the trial court which remains the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of the witnesses. Gehr, 81 Wis. 2d at 122; Posnansky, 61 Wis. 2d at 465. The Posnansky court characterized the appropriate standard of review regarding the credibility of the witnesses thusly: "The trial judge, when acting as the fact finder, is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of a witness. His determination in that respect will not be questioned unless his finding is based upon caprice, an abuse of discretion, or an error of law." Posnansky, 61 Wis. 2d at 465-66 (emphasis added). Unless the circuit court's finding regarding Officer Moss' credibility is clearly erroneous, this Court may not disturb it. Wurtz, 97 Wis. 2d at 107 n.3.

Regarding the analysis of the issues presented by the City, it is important to further define what this standard implies. A decision of the United States Supreme Court, Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564 (1985), provides the sharpest description of what the clearly erroneous standard entails. The Anderson Court observed:

Although the meaning of the phrase "clearly erroneous" is not immediately apparent, certain general principles governing the exercise of the appellate court's

power to overturn findings of a district court may be derived from our cases. The foremost of these principles, as the Fourth Circuit itself recognized, is that "[a] finding is 'clearly erroneous' when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395 (1948). This standard plainly does not entitle a reviewing court to reverse the finding of the trier of fact simply because it is convinced that it would have decided the case differently. The reviewing court oversteps the bounds of its duty . . . if it undertakes to duplicate the role of the lower court. "In applying the clearly erroneous standard to the findings of a district court sitting without a jury, appellate courts must constantly have in mind that their function is not to decide factual issues de novo." Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, 123 (1969). If the district court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety, the court of appeals may not reverse it even though convinced that had it been sitting as the trier of fact, it would have weighed the evidence differently. Where there are two permissible views of the evidence, the factfinder's choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous. United States v. Yellow Cab Co., 338 U.S. 338, 342 (1949); see also, Inwood Laboratories, Inc. v. Ives Laboratories, Inc., 456 U.S. 884 (1982).

Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573-74 (1985) (emphasis added).

For purposes of appellate review of the probable cause question presented by the City, it is also of significant import to recognize that:

Determining probable cause for a warrantless arrest in the context of a suppression motion is another matter. Plausibility is not enough. The trial court takes evidence in support of suppression and against it, and chooses between conflicting versions of the facts. It necessarily determines the credibility of the officers and other witnesses. State v. Pires, 55 Wis. 2d 597, 602-03, 201 N.W.2d 153, 156 (1972). The court then finds the historical facts and determines whether probable cause exists on the basis of those facts.

State v. Wille, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 682, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994)(emphasis added). Clearly, the Wille court acknowledged that subsumed within any probable cause determination is the "credibility of the officer[]."

The extensive line of the foregoing authority unequivocally establishes that this Court is not permitted to simply review the facts of this case de novo as the City suggests. Instead, great deference must be given to the lower court's assessment of the credibility of Officer Moss because that is a factual question and not a question of law. Unless the circuit court's determination regarding the officer's credibility is clearly erroneous or is "based upon caprice, an abuse of discretion, or an error of law," it may not be upset on appeal.

#### B. Application of the Appropriate Standard of Review to the Facts of This Appeal.

Since the question of Officer Moss' credibility is thoroughly interwoven with the issue of whether probable cause existed to arrest Mr. Zimmer, this Court is not permitted to address the latter question without first giving great deference to the lower court's assessment of the officer's credibility. In so doing, an examination of the record reveals that Judge Moroney did not find Officer Moss' testimony to be credible. During his decision, Judge Moroney engaged in the following exchange with counsel for Mr. Zimmer:

MR. MELOWSKI: Well, I am saying that without the PBT there isn't probable cause to arrest, and since we are not considering the PBT I would ask the Court to find that there isn't probable cause to arrest [Mr. Zimmer].

THE COURT: Well, I have got to come to that conclusion, to be honest, Mr. Eastman [the prosecutor]. Why? Because even though I asked him the question I did purposefully, because he had testified about the PBT and then he found after, it was after the PBT came back that there was probable cause. I wanted to find out whether or not he had probable cause before the PBT was rendered in any fashion and whether or not, you know. And he said, yes. I said why didn't you arrest him them? He couldn't answer that question truthfully, and I give the officer all the credit for that. It is because he didn't rely on that, or he didn't rely enough on that. He relied on the PBT result.

(R20 at 71:4-20; R-App. at 116)(emphasis added).

The foregoing exchange plainly demonstrates that the lower court was being asked to determine whether probable cause existed to arrest Mr. Zimmer in the absence of any "consider[ation of] the PBT . . . . " (R20 at 71:4-5; R-App. 116). In response to this specific inquiry, the lower court concluded that Officer Moss when the question was put to him regarding probable cause to arrest-"couldn't answer . . . truthfully." (R20 at 71:17; R-App. at 116). This is as plain and unambiguous as any assessment of credibility can be made. Judge Moroney unmistakably characterized Officer Moss as untruthful.

Moreover, the judge's follow-up comment—that he gave the officer "credit for"-further sheds light on the judge's opinion that Officer Moss' credibility was suspect because the "credit" the judge gave Officer Moss was for not "digging himself a deeper hole" (to use the common parlance). That is, when Judge Moroney

was pressing the officer to commit to a position during his examination from the bench, and he finally caught the officer in a circumstance where he could no longer continue to contrive inconsistent answers, the judge was commending him for not forging even more engineered responses which would further strain credulity. Put another way, Officer Moss knew that he "had been caught" and recognized that he should relent in the face of Judge Moroney's withering examination.

Since the basis for Judge Moroney's conclusions of law rested upon the necessary determination of Officer Moss' credibility (see Wille, 185 Wis. 2d at 682), this Court is not permitted to substitute its own judgment regarding the officer's credibility (Anderson, 470 U.S. at 573-74), but rather, must instead give great deference to the lower court's evaluation of the same (Posnansky, 61 Wis. 2d at 465-66).

In the end, there is nothing within the four corners of the City's brief which establishes that the lower court's finding regarding the credibility of Officer Moss' testimony was in any manner premised "upon caprice, an abuse of discretion, or an error of law." *Posnansky*, 61 Wis. 2d at 465-66. Failing to establish such a basis for upsetting the lower court's factual finding is fatal to the City's cause, and therefore, this Court should not reverse the decision of the court below.

Before moving on to the second question presented by the City in its appeal, it is worth taking note of the last portion of the *Posnansky* standard in anticipation of what the City may attempt to proffer in its reply brief to Mr. Zimmer's response brief.

The City might argue that the *Posnansky* standard was violated because the lower court's decision was predicated upon "an error of law" relating to whether the preliminary breath test has to be "requested" pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.303. This is simply *not* the case. When counsel for Mr. Zimmer put the question to the lower court regarding whether probable cause to arrest Mr. Zimmer existed, he did so in the context of *not* considering the preliminary breath test. (R20 at 71:4-5; R-App. at 116). In responding to this inquiry, Judge Moroney took pains to note that Officer Moss was not credible regarding his answer with respect to whether probable cause existed to arrest Mr. Zimmer. (R20 at 71:13-18; R-App. at 116). Based upon this response, Judge Moroney was assessing whether *probable cause to arrest* Mr. Zimmer existed and *not* whether the preliminary breath test must be "requested" under § 343.303. Thus, even if this Court determines that the circuit court

erroneously interpreted the plain language of § 343.303, that alleged "error of law" played no role in the lower court's decision.1

#### *C*. Other Considerations.

While Mr. Zimmer posits that this Court should not reverse the decision of the court below because Judge Moroney did not find Officer Moss credible, Mr. Zimmer believes that the City may attempt to transmogrify the appropriate standard of review into one which solely involves a de novo review of the facts. See, e.g., Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant at p.4 ("When the facts are reviewed de novo. independent of the Circuit Court's decision, . . . "). To this end, the City's portrayal of the facts of this case is decidedly cherry-picked. Additional facts were adduced at the motion hearing which support Judge Moroney's conclusion regarding a lack of probable cause to arrest. For example:

Officer Moss never observed Mr. Zimmer's vehicle swerving, crossing the centerline, or deviating within its lane of travel. (R20 at 42:15-21; R-App. at 106).

Officer Moss conceded that the Zimmer vehicle maintained an appropriate speed throughout the entire time he followed the vehicle. (R20 at 42:22 to 43:4; R-App. at 106-07).

Mr. Zimmer timely responded to Officer Moss' signal to stop his vehicle. (R20 at 43:5-7; R-App. at 107).

Officer Moss admitted that he never observed an odor of intoxicants about Mr. Zimmer's person, either before or after he exited his vehicle. (R20 at 43:8-23; 45:20-22; R-App. at 107, 108).

Mr. Zimmer denied consuming any intoxicants. (R20 at 43:24 to 44:2; 45:23-25; R-App. at 107-09).

Officer Moss did not observe any vertical gaze nystagmus or lack of ocular convergence when he tested Mr. Zimmer for the same. (R20 at 47:10-14; 47:19-24; R-App. at 110).

Mr. Zimmer performed the alphabet recitation test without exhibiting any signs of impairment. (R20 at 48:8-19; 50:2-5; R-App. at 111, 113).

Mr. Zimmer correctly counted backward from 82 to 61, and even though he was instructed to stop at 68, none of the numbers between 82 and 61 were skipped, transposed, or repeated,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Make no mistake, Mr. Zimmer is *not* conceding that it is "an error of law" to interpret § 343.303 as requiring that a law enforcement officer "request" that a person suspected of impaired driving submit to a preliminary breath test. Mr. Zimmer only makes this argument in anticipation of how the City may respond to his position regarding the appropriate standard of review in this case.

nor did Mr. Zimmer have to pause during his recitation. (R20 at 48:20 to 50:1; R-App. at 111-13).

Mr. Zimmer also successfully recited the months of the year from March to October as instructed without error. (R20 at 50:6-12; R-App. at 113).

Based upon the foregoing, Mr. Zimmer proffers that even if this Court did not defer to Judge Moroney's credibility determination regarding Officer Moss, there remains a reasonable factual basis upon which the lower court could have found that probable cause to arrest Mr. Zimmer did not exist. Neither Mr. Zimmer's driving nor his mentation were impaired based upon Officer Moss' admissions. Similarly, his eyes did not display evidence of any vertical nystagmus or lack of convergence, and he did not admit to consuming any intoxicants which explains why Officer Moss observed no odor of intoxicants emanating from his person at any point in the process. Thus, even if this Court was not to defer to Judge Moroney's credibility determination, there exist sufficient facts under the totality of the circumstances test<sup>2</sup> to conclude that probable cause to arrest Mr. Zimmer did not exist.

### П. THE CITY DID NOT PRESERVE AN OBJECTION TO THE DISMISSAL OF THE CASE BELOW, AND THEREFORE, THIS COURT IS PRECLUDED FROM TAKING UP AN IMPROPERLY PRESERVED ISSUE.

The City's appeal is premised upon its conclusion that the lower court erroneously dismissed the case it brought against Mr. Zimmer. See Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant at p.4 (emphasis added). There is a significant problem for the City, however, in that it did not properly preserve its right to appeal by objecting to the entry of the judgment of dismissal in the lower court.

More specifically, when counsel for Mr. Zimmer moved to dismiss the charges pending against him, the following exchange took place between counsel for the parties:

MR. MELOWSKI: Well I am making a motion to have the evidentiary chemical test result thrown out as fruit of the poisonous tree, and I am making a motion to have the charges against Mr. Zimmer dismissed.

THE COURT: Mr. Eastman?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Court determines whether probable cause to arrest exists under the "totality of the circumstances." State v. Nordness, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986)(citations omitted).

MR. EASTMAN: I think it would, based upon the Court's decision it would be appropriate for it to suppress the test result, the blood test result.

(R20 at 69:18-25; R-App. at 114)(emphasis added). Notably absent from the City's concession is any objection to the expressed request for a dismissal of the charges pending against Mr. Zimmer. In fact, at a later point when the lower court states that it ruled suppression is an appropriate remedy as Mr. Zimmer requested, the City—even though it had an opportunity to expressly preserve its right to appeal by objecting to the entry of an order of dismissal—actually expressly proffers that dismissal is appropriate by stating: "And if the Court does all of those things, the officer had no probable cause at all to arrest, then it would be appropriate to dismiss the charges." (R20 at 70:21 to 71:3; R-App. at 115-16)(emphasis added). Thereafter, during the remaining portion of the lower court's oral ruling, the City never interposes an objection to the court's decision to dismiss. (R20 at 71:8 to 74:13; R-App. at 116-19).

In fact, there are at least two separate occasions during the circuit court's ruling when the City had an opportunity to interject an objection to dismissal but. for reasons unknown to Mr. Zimmer, chose not to. (R20 at 72:21-25; 73:23-25; R-App. at 117-18).

The City's suggestion that dismissal was an appropriate remedy, along with its failure to object to the same, is fatal to its appeal because it "actively contributed" to the circuit court's ruling without objection. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has long held that when a party "actively contributes" to a claim of error, it may not later claim error upon appeal. State v. Gove, 148 Wis. 2d 936, 938, 944, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989)("Gove affirmatively contributed to what he now claims was trial court error"); accord, Knight v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co., 71 Wis. 2d 821, 828, 239 N.W.2d 348 (1976).

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